IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CONNIE RAY ISRAEL, Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. SC95,873

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Connie Ray Israel, hereinafter referred to as appellant, was charged with a four count indictment of Burglary of Dwelling with Battery; Kidnapping; Sexual Battery with Great Force; and First Degree Murder. (V I p15) During a pretrial hearing, appellant was found in contempt of court for inappropriate courtroom behavior and sentenced to 179 days in the County Jail. (V I p60) The trial court granted the Public Defender's Motion to Withdraw; then modified the order by appointing the Office of the Public Defender as stand-by counsel. (V I p61,47) The trial court entered an order allowing Israel to represent himself with a public defender as standby counsel. (V I p68)

The trial court granted the defense Motion to Appoint DNA Expert. (V I

p105) The Public Defender made a Motion to Withdraw from Standby Status for Failure to Cooperate. (V 1 p113) Israel informed the trial court that he does not want a DNA expert witness. (V I p113) The trial court denied the Public Defender's Motion to Withdraw from Standby Status. (V I p124) Standby counsel made a motion for a confidential DNA expert. (V I p135) Israel made a *pro se* motion for a DNA expert. (V I p137) The DNA expert will assist the defense in the depositions of state witnesses and testimony if necessary. (V I p143). Israel made a *pro se* motion for additional experts. (V I p165) The defense motion for additional discovery regarding DNA was granted. (V II p256) The defense made a request for the FDLE DNA procedure manual and an amended Motion for Appointment of DNA Expert. (V II p264, 265) The trial court granted the amended motion for a DNA expert. (V II p267)

On June 28, 1995 the Public Defender made a Motion for Continuance to give DNA experts additional time to review discovery materials. (V II p277) The motion was granted and trial was set for August 7, 1995. (V II p278) Israel made a *pro se* motion for speedy trial on July 18, 1995. (V II p282) The demand for speedy trial was withdrawn by Israel. (V II p286) The defense filed a Motion in Limine in Regard to Pictures. (V II p295) The defense made additional pre-trial

2

motions.¹ The defense filed a Motion for Sanctions for the state failing to provide DNA discovery information. (V II p322) The trial court deferred ruling on the Motion for Sanctions. (V II p326)

Judge Boyles recused himself and the State requested that the Governor appoint another state attorney. (V II p342) The Governor appointed Jerry Hill, State Attorney for the Tenth Judicial Circuit as prosecutor. (V III p539) The trial court granted the Public Defender's Motion to Withdraw and appointed private counsel Wayne Henderson. (V III p491)

The state filed a Petition for Status Conference to determine who represents Israel, and also what hearings need to be set. (V III p503) Israel made a *pro se* motion asking Judge Hammond to recuse himself. (V III p567) The trial court granted Wayne Henderson's Motion to Withdraw as Counsel based upon differences between the parties. (V IV p643, 644) Israel waived his right to be represented by counsel. (V IV p645) The trial court conducted a <u>Faretta</u> Hearing, and ruled that Mr. Israel could defend himself. (V IV p706) Clyde Wolfe is appointed stand-by counsel and Wayne Henderson is directed to assist stand-by

¹ Motion to Prohibit any Reference to the Advisory Role of the Jury at Sentencing (V II p302); Motion for Statement of Particulars RE: Aggravating Circumstances (V II p304); Motion in Limine RE: Penalty Phase (V II p306); Motion to Exclude Evidence to Create Sympathy for the Deceased (V II p308)

counsel. (V IV p706)

Israel made a *pro se* Motion to Continue because he required more time to prepare for trial. (V IV p714) Israel made a series of additional *pro se* motions.² The trial court granted stand-by Counsel Wolfe's Motion to Continue. (V V p929) Clyde Wolfe is appointed counsel for Israel. (V V p959) The court appointed an investigator for Israel. (V V p979) The trial court granted the defense request for an additional expert in the field of molecular biology. (V VIII p1466,68) The trial court granted the defense Motion to Provide Copies of Autoradiographs from FDLE. (V IX p1770,72)

The state made a plea offer to Israel that in exchange for a plea of guilty to second degree murder, he would be given a concurrent sentence to those he is already serving. (V IV p666) A jury was seated and sworn for this case on November 16, 1998. (V X p1938) On November 17, 1998 Israel made a *pro se* Motion for Continuance based upon health problems, including chest pains, ulcer, blurred vision, headaches and dizziness. (V X p1964) The jury could not reach a verdict and the trial court declared a mistrial and continued the re-trial to a later

² Petition for Writ of Mandamus requesting the state to photocopy documents (V V p812); Motion to Subpoena Expert Witnesses for Deposition (V V p888); Motion to Suppress Statements (V V p907); Motion for Continuance for lack of assistance by stand-by counsel Clyde Wolfe. (V V p923)

date. (V X 2045) Israel waived speedy trial after the mistrial. (V XI p2107)

The day that the retrial began, defense counsel moved for a continuance in the trial because Israel was having vision problems and dizziness. (V XIV p2525) Israel stated that he had not received his medications from the Department of Corrections. (V XIV p2525) The records indicate that Israel was prescribed Remeron and Pepto Bismol. (V XIV p2525) Israel claimed he was prescribed Mildrin by a Department of Corrections doctor. (V XIV p2525) Over Israel's complaints of illness, the trial court denied the request for continuance. (V XIV p2525)

Just as the jury venire was being sworn, Connie Ray Israel stated "I'm sick, I am sick." (V XIV p2540) Israel then absented himself from the courtroom to the holding cell. (V XIV p2546) Nurse Bergen stated that Israel's two week supply of Mildrin had run out, and that Israel suffers from anxiety, depression and pylorus. (V XIV p2548) Israel remained absent from the courtroom while the court reviewed hardship challenges of the jury venire. (V XIV p2552) Israel asserted that he is not competent to proceed because he has been wrongfully deprived of his medication for headaches and dizziness. (V XIV p2552-53)

During jury selection Israel stated "I'm sick, sick man, I'm sick man, please take me back to the cell." (V XIV p2584) The trial court directed Israel to remain

seated. (V XIV p2584) Soon thereafter, Israel explained before the jury "I've got to get out of here, Judge, I'm sick, I've got to get out of here, I'm sick." (V XIV p2593) Israel exited himself from the courtroom, and the court decided to make an inquiry concerning the consequences of Israel absenting himself from the courtroom. (V XIV p2594) Israel refused to come back to the courtroom. (V XIV p2596) The jury venire continued to talk with the trial judge without Israel present. (V XIV p2599)

The trial court held an inquiry with Israel in the holding cell. (V XIV p2601) Israel stated that his medication was withheld and he is too ill to proceed. (V XIV p2603) The trial court ruled that Israel was free to return to the courtroom, and there was no basis to determine that Israel is under any real stress. (V XIV p2607) Israel elected not to participate in the trial. (V XIV p2608)

The trial court received a report of some scuffling and problems with Israel in the holding cell. (V XV p2610) Israel reportedly attacked one of the bailiffs with jurors in the nearby hallway. (V XV p2611) The trial court asked defense counsel whether Israel wished to join the trial. (V XV p2611) Without conferring with Israel, defense counsel stated "that would be my best guess." (V XV p 2611) It was disclosed that while a nurse came to attend to Israel, Israel got agitated and struck one of the bailiffs. (V XV p2612) Israel was then shackled and handcuffed, and the bailiff suffered injury to his eye. (V XV p2612) The nurse reported to the court that Israel did not show any evidence of cardiovascular problems. (V XV p2614) The trial court ordered that Israel be handcuffed and shackled while in the courtroom. (V XV p2613) Israel told the court that he did not want to be present in the courtroom. (V XV p2617)

Defense counsel made a motion to strike the jury venire because the jury room is next to the holding cell where Israel's fight with the bailiff occurred. (V XV p2618) The trial court denied the motion to strike the venire, and directed defense counsel to question jurors about possible prejudice. (V XV p2612-20) The trial court announced that Israel still did not want to be in the courtroom. The court ordered Israel fingernails trimmed because his nails could be used as a weapon. (V XV p2697) Juror Stewart advised that he heard Israel yelling in his cell and a nurse and bailiff left the cell area with blood on them. (V XV p2753, 55) The area was full of prospective jurors at the time it happened. (V XV p2756) Juror Sellars heard profanity by Israel in the holding cell and a bailiff came out of the cell area on a stretcher. (V XV p2757)

The trial court asked Israel whether he wished to be in the courtroom. (V XV p2759) Israel stated that he felt sick, and did not respond to the trial court as to whether he would remain in the courtroom and left the courtroom. (V XV p2767)

At the break, the trial court inquired as to whether Israel wanted to join the trial and Israel wished to stay in his holding cell. (V XV p2837; XVI p2880, 2968) Israel continued to stay in his holding cell and asked to go back to UCI for his medication. (V XVI p2996)

Israel requested to impeach everyone that was in the courtroom when he got sick. (V XVI p3048) Israel requested to re-enter the courtroom and elected to wear his jail pants. (V XVI p3048) Israel complained that he got charged with battery on a law enforcement officer and will make a sneak attack against the bailiff if he gets the chance. (V XVI p3049) A nurse reported to the court that there was nothing wrong with Israel. (V XVII p3049)

The trial court ruled that Israel must remain in his chair and make no sudden movements, and remain shackled with a waist chain while in the courtroom. (V XVII pR3051, 53) The defense counsel objects to Israel being shackled in the courtroom. (V XVII p3053) Those members of the jury venire who either witnessed seeing people rushing in and out of the holding cell or heard a commotion and surmised that the defendant had a problem have been excused. (V XVII p3055) Israel reported that he was feeling better. (V XVII p3060)

Defense counsel renews the motion to strike the jury panel for exposure to a prejudicial newspaper article. (V XVII p3199) The trial court will excuse those

jurors that have been exposed to the newspaper article. (V XVII p3199) Israel announced that he did not want to be in the courtroom for opening statements by the attorneys. (V XVIII p3332) Israel further complained that jurors that were called for voir dire on the first day of jury selection knew about Dale Holbrook grabbing the defendant by the throat after complaining of chest pains and dizziness. (V XVIII p3333) Israel further complained that he was not properly included in jury selection. (V XVIII p3334) Finally, Israel complained that the state systemically excluded black African American males from participating in voir dire examination. (V XVIII p3334)

Israel claimed that he had not received his proper medication from Union Correctional Institution and as a result he is dizzy and wishes to stay in the holding cell. (V XVIII p3337) After the opening statements, the trial judge asked Israel whether he wanted to return to the courtroom and Israel declined. (V XVIII p3371) After the morning session of trial, the court asked defense counsel if Israel wished to return to the courtroom and counsel said no. (V XVIII p3425) The trial morning of February 26, 1999 counsel for Israel indicated that he did not want to be in the courtroom until the close of the state's case and Israel will testify on his own behalf. (V XIX p 3569)

The state sought to declare witness Pittman unavailable for purposes of

testifying at this trial in using previous testimony made at a previous trial. (V XIX p3576) A subpoena for witness Pittman was issued six weeks prior to trial and returned unserved. (V XIX p3576) Ms. Pittman had failed to appear for her parole appointment and was classified as an absconder and charged with a violation of supervision. (V XIX p3577) The state sought to enter a transcript of Pittman's testimony at the last trial because defense counsel had a full opportunity to cross-examine Pittman, and this is a retrial of the exact same issues. (V XIX p3578) Defense counsel objected to the application of Pittman's former testimony based upon the sixth amendment confrontation clause. (V XIX p3579) The Palatka Police and the Putnam County Sheriff's Office were out in the community looking for Pittman. (V XIX p3586) The trial court is going to allow the former testimony of Pittman over a defense objection. (V XIX p3588)

During the testimony of Arthur McComb he stated: "So he starts to tell me about his case and it was a first-degree murder case. And he told me that he had more than one; at the time I can tell you in great detail about two cases." (V XIX p3672) The defense counsel moved for a mistrial on the grounds that McComb revealed to the jury that Israel had been charged with an additional murder. (V XIX p3673) The state claimed that it intentionally sought McComb's testimony concerning additional murders and it was a proper inquiry because the defense

failed to file a Motion in Limine to exclude such inquiry. (V XIX p3674) The trial court denied the motion for mistrial and the defense counsel asked the court to admonish the jury not to consider the last response from the witness. (V XIX p3675) The trial court denied the request of defense counsel to admonish the jury ruling that he did not want to bring any additional attention to that particular matter. (V XIX p3677) McComb further testified: "Israel's attitude is very callous, it was like he had a right to do and he was mad at the judicial system for putting him in jail." (V XIX p3687) The defense objected on the grounds that McComb's testimony was speculation and commenting upon the character of the defendant. (V XIX p3687) The court overruled the objection, however cautioned the state to limit the testimony to those things that were said and leave out the interpretations. (V XIX p3688) During a trial break the trial court asked defense counsel whether Israel would like to return to the courtroom and defense counsel stated there was no change and that Israel wished to return after the state finishes their case. (V XIX p3607)

The state rests. (V XIX p3707) The defense made a motion for acquittal as to count II of kidnapping based upon the decision in <u>Kent v. State</u>, 702 So.2d 265 5th DCA 1997. (V XIX p3713) The trial court denied the motion for judgment acquittal as to count II. (V XIX p3714) The defense also made a motion for

judgment of acquittal on the remaining three counts, I, III, and IV and argued that the state had not proved a prima facie case sufficient to present to the jury. (V XIX p3715) The trial court denied the motion for judgment of acquittal as to count I, III, and IV. (V XIX p3715) The defense rests. (V XIX p3748)

The jury found Connie Ray Israel guilty as charged on all four counts. (V XX p3828, 29) The jury recommended a sentence of death by a majority vote of 11 to 1. (V XX p3963) Israel made a motion for a new trial. (V XX p3894) The motion for a new trial was denied. (V XX p3901) Israel requested a new trial because he was not able to participate in jury selection. (V XX p3904) Israel had instructed his attorney Clyde Wolfe that once jury voir dire ended he wanted to come into the courtroom and participate in jury selection. (V XX p3904) Israel also complained that he did not get a fair trial because he was not given an independent DNA expert to review the evidence. (V XX p3905)

The trial court sentenced Israel as follows: Count I, life concurrent with any other sentence he is presently serving, Count II, sentenced Israel to life consecutive to Count I and any other sentence he is presently serving; Count III sentenced Israel to life consecutive to Count II. The trial court found that four aggravating factors outweighed the two statutory mitigating factors and sentenced Israel to death. (V XX p3562)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Thelma Hughes worked with Esther Hagans at the Putnam Medical Center since 1967. (V XVIII p3519) In late December 1991, Ms. Hagans did not show up for her morning shift at work. (V XVIII p3520) Someone from the hospital was sent to check on Ms. Hagans. (V XVIII p3520) Hagans would carry large sums of money in her bosom because she did not carry a purse. (V XVIII p3521) Hagans would sometimes carry twenties and she had been seen with hundreds of dollars on her. (V XVIII p3521) Whether Hagans had money at her home at the time of her death was unknown. (V XVIII p3522)

Shirley Bartley was Ester Hagans next door neighbor for several years. (V XVIII p3427) The day before her murder, Bartley saw Hagans come home from work. (V XVIII p3428) The next day, an employee from the hospital came to Hagans' house looking for her. (V XVIII p3429) When there was no answer at the house, the employee came to Bartley's house and found that Hagans' whereabouts were unknown. (V XVIII p3429) Bartley then went to Hagans' house and called her from the gate, and there was no answer. (V XVIII p3430) Bartley did not go up to the door of the house because Hagans had three dogs loose in the yard. (V XVIII p3430) Bartley's mother then called Hagans house with no success, and then Bartley called the police. (V XVIII p3433) Robin Edwards is a member of the Palatka Police Department and was involved in the investigation of the death of Esther Hagans. (V XVIII p3528) Edwards arrived at the Hagans' home at 9:54 a.m. and talked to the next door neighbor Shirley Bartley. (V XVIII p3529) Edwards was initially prevented from entering the home because there was a bull dog in the yard that would not allow Edwards to get into the house. (V XVIII p3530) Officer Steve Huckleberry arrived shortly afterwards and scared the dog off to another area of the yard so Edwards could enter the home. (V XVIII p3530) When Edwards got to the front door it was ajar about two inches. (V XVIII p3530) Edwards searched for Hagans and found her deceased in the bedroom. (V XVIII p3531) The point of entry was through a window. (V XVIII p3545)

Ricky Wright was a detective with the Palatka Police Department assigned the investigation of the murder of Esther Hagans. (V XIX p3651) Wright found Hagans' body in her bedroom and her hands were tied behind her back and she had apparent injuries on her face and about her head and it appeared somebody had killed her. (V XIX p3654) Within days Connie Ray Israel, Vernon Young and Clayton Hughes were developed as murder suspects. (V XIX p3655) The investigation of this murder became what was known as a "cold case," and the Florida Department of Law Enforcement was asked to assist in the investigation. (V XIX p3657) During that investigation, they obtained a blood sample from Israel and based on tests Israel was found to be the contributor of some semen stains that were found in the home of Esther Hagans. (V XIX p3658)

Balubali Patel managed the William Penn Motel back in December of 1991. (V XIX p3608) Connie Ray Israel registered in room 33 on December 30, 1991 for one week and he paid \$112.36 in cash. (V XIX p3610) Israel only stayed one night, and got a cash refund of \$91.60. (V XIX p3610) Andrew Cropley was the guest service manager and office manager at the Holiday Inn in Palatka in December of 1991. (V XIX p3620) Connie Ray Israel registered in room 101 of the Holiday Inn on December 28, 1991. (V XIX p3620) Israel paid for a two night stay for December 28th and 29th and paid a total of \$99.64. (V XIX p3622) Israel checked out on the morning of December 30, 1991. (V XIX p3622)

Mary Ann Pittman was working as a prostitute on the corner of 10th and 11th Street in Palatka in December of 1991. (V XIX p3626) At approximately 3:00 to 4:00 in the morning Pittman was met at that street corner by Connie Ray Israel. (V XIX p3626) Israel took Pittman to the nearby Holiday Inn to have sex and do drugs. (V XIX p3627) On the way to the hotel the two were met by a person known as "Spook." (V XIX p3627) The three entered Israel's hotel room and smoked crack together. (V XIX p3628) After Spook left, Pittman and Israel

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