IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CONNIE RAY ISRAEL,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC95873

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990 Fax (904) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

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

Israel's claim that the trial court should have, but did not, find certain non-statutory mitigation is foreclosed by settled Florida law because Israel never argued that "non-statutory mitigation" to the advisory jury or to the sentencing court. Israel cannot place the court in error for failing to weigh evidence that was not made known to it. Further, the non-statutory mitigation was subsumed within the statutory mitigating circumstances that were found and weighed by the sentencing court.

In any event, even if the asserted non-statutory mitigation should have been separately considered by the sentencing court, it is weak in character, and, in contrast to the extensive aggravation present in this case, is insufficient to compel a sentence other than death. Any error, and the State does not concede that one occurred, was harmless.

Israel's claim that the trial court erred in denying his motion for mistrial based upon the testimony of the witness McComb has no basis in fact. McComb's testimony cannot be fairly read as being that Israel had more than one murder charge pending against him. The most that that testimony included was a statement of the obvious — that Israel was incarcerated in the prison system at the time he confessed to McComb. Moreover, in addition to being wholly lacking in factual support, any error, to the extent that one may have occurred, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Death is the proper sentence in this case. The sentencing court found four aggravating circumstances: that Israel had previously been convicted of numerous violent felonies; that the murder in this case was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; that the murder in this case was committed while Israel was engaged in the commission of a sexual battery, burglary, and kidnapping; and the murder in this case was committed for pecuniary gain. In contrast, the sentencing court found both statutory mental mitigating circumstances, but found that they did not warrant more

than "some credence." Moreover, when this case is compared to other, similar cases, death is not a disproportionate sentence under these facts.

Israel's claim that his death sentence is based upon an unconstitutional "split jury vote" is not preserved for review, and, alternatively, is foreclosed by settled precedent.

Israel's claim that "jurors saw appellant in shackles and handcuffs" is not preserved for review, and, alternatively, is meritless. Israel was handcuffed in front, and the fact that he was in restraints was not readily apparent to an observer. Moreover, he had exhibited extremely violent behavior, and, moreover, had threatened further violence. The court is not required to allow such a defendant the opportunity to carry out such threats. There was no abuse of discretion, and there is no basis for reversal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE "INVOLUNTARY EXCLUSION" CLAIM

On pages 31-33 of his brief, Israel argues that he is entitled to relief from his conviction and sentence of death because he was "involuntarily excluded" from the jury selection phase of his capital trial. This claim is not a basis for reversal because, despite the assertions contained in Israel's brief, his absence from the courtroom was voluntary. Because Israel's absence was at his own request, he cannot predicate reversal of his conviction and

sentence on his freely-made choice.

The record demonstrates that Israel voluntarily absented himself from the courtroom on the first day of his capital trial (February 23, 1999). (R2546; 2559; 2584; 2595; 2603). Likewise, Israel requested not to attend the proceedings on the second day of trial. (R2880; 2969; 2995). However, Israel did attend a portion of those proceedings, at his request. (R3049). On February 25, 1999, Israel again expressly stated that he did not wish to attend the proceedings. (R3327; 3336; 3371). In his brief to this Court, Israel claims, without record support, that he complained that he was "wrongfully excluded from jury selection". Initial Brief, at 32. At no point in the record did Israel complain of such a "wrongful exclusion", and, consequently, there is no basis for relief because this claim has no basis in fact. Nothing is preserved for this Court's review because there is no factual basis for this claim.

To the extent that this claim deserves further discussion, the law is well-settled that a defendant cannot decline to participate in his trial and then, upon conviction, assign error to his actions. Just as this Court has held that "[t]rial judges must be given sufficient discretion to meet the circumstances of each case where a defendant disrupts the proceedings", Valdes v. State, 626 So.2d 1316, 1321 (Fla. 1993), a defendant's voluntary absence from his trial, which is the situation presented here, cannot disrupt

the orderly administration of justice. See, e.g., Meek v. State, 474 So.2d 340, 343 (Fla. 4 DCA 1985). See also, Knight v. State, 721 So.2d 287, 295-96 (Fla. 1998). In a similar circumstance, the Third District Court of Appeals described the defendant's argument in the following way:

Finally, in what can only be described as an attempt to expand the parameters of the Yiddish word "chutzpah," the defendant argues that the trial judge erred by repeatedly excluding him from the courtroom during the course of his trial. We disagree.

Wilson v. State, 753 So.2d 683, 689 (Fla. 3 DCA 2000). The same can be said of Israel's argument. This claim is not a basis for relief because it has no legal or factual basis. Israel's conviction and sentence should not be disturbed.

II. THE DENIAL OF THE MOTION TO CONTINUE CLAIM

On pages 34-38 of his brief, Israel argues that he is entitled to reversal of his conviction and sentence because the trial court denied his motion to continue based upon his claimed "illness". As is the case with the "involuntary absence" claim addressed above, this claim has no legal or factual basis, and, for those reasons, is not a basis for reversal.

The foundation of Israel's claim is that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied his pro se motion to continue the trial. However, unlike the cases cited in Israel's brief, the defendant was not hospitalized, and, moreover, was not ill. The trial court questioned Israel regarding his condition, and observed

that Israel was "doing alright". (R2532; 2594). Moreover, Israel was checked by jail medical personnel (who were familiar with him and his medical history) and found to be in no distress. (R2601; 2614). Because of those findings of fact, which were made following observations in the courtroom, there is no basis on which to base a finding that the trial court abused its discretion in denying the pro se motion to continue. See, e.g., State v. Spaziano, 692 So.2d 174 (Fla. 1997).

To the extent that further discussion of this groundless claim is necessary, this claim is, in reality, nothing more than a modified version of the "involuntary exclusion" claim addressed above. Just as a trial court must have the discretion to deal with an obstructionist defendant in the conduct of a trial, so too must the trial court have the discretion to deal with a baseless motion to continue which is based on no more than the defendant's desire to disrupt the proceedings. See, Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 343, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 25 L.Ed.2d 353 (1970); Valdes, supra; Knight, supra; Diaz v. State, 513 So.2d 1045, 1047 (Fla. 1987). In this case, the trial court inquired into Israel's physical condition, and, following that inquiry, denied the motion to continue. That ruling was not an abuse of discretion, given that Israel had been medically examined and found to be in no distress. There is no basis for reversal.

Part of Israel's complaint set out in his brief is that his

"supply" of a medication called Mildrin had run out18. The record indicates that he had been given a two-week supply of that medication, and, when that supply had been taken, he was not supposed to have more of that medication. (R2529). Any implication that the defendant was in some fashion deprived of medical attention is baseless. Likewise, the claims of "vision problems and dizziness" were the result of Israel not wearing his glasses, not the result of some untreated medical condition. (R3050; 3060). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in not delaying this trial further. There is no basis for relief.

III. THE NON-STATUTORY MITIGATION CLAIM

On pages 39-41 of his brief, Israel argues that the sentencing court should have found and considered certain non-statutory mitigation. Specifically, Israel complains that the sentencing court did not find drug abuse, "brain damage", and "low intellectual functioning" as non-statutory mitigating circumstances. This claim is not a basis for reversal of Israel's sentence for the reasons set out below.

The first, and most obvious, deficiency with Israel's claim is that this "mitigation" was never argued to the advisory jury or to

¹⁸The *Physician's Desk Reference* does not list a drug called "Mildrin", but does include a drug named "Midrin". Midrin is used in treatment of "tension and nervous headaches", and it seems likely that this is the drug that was given Israel, especially in light of the fact that Tylenol was substituted for the prescription drug. (R2529).

the sentencing court. Florida law is well-settled:

In Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990), we stated: "[T]he defense must share the burden and identify for the court the specific nonstatutory mitigating circumstances it is attempting to establish." Id. at 24. Unlike statutory mitigation that has been clearly defined by the legislature, nonstatutory mitigation may consist of any factor that could reasonably bear on the sentence. The parameters of nonstatutory mitigation are largely undefined. This is one of the reasons that we impose some burden on a party to identify the nonstatutory mitigation relied upon. . . . Appellant neither presented these circumstances to the jury nor to the trial court. Therefore, we find no error by the trial court in not expressly considering or finding these as nonstatutory mitigators.

Consalvo v. State, 697 So.2d 805, 818 (Fla. 1996); see also, Nelson v. State, 748 So.2d 237, 243 (Fla. 1999) (no error in not finding drug and alcohol abuse as non-statutory mitigation when such not identified to trial court or jury). Israel did not identify the now-alleged non-statutory mitigation to the sentencing court, and that court cannot be placed in error for "failing" to weigh and consider "mitigation" that was not made known to it. Israel's sentence of death should not be disturbed.

The second reason that this claim is not a basis for relief is because the non-statutory "mitigation" set out in Israel's brief was known to the sentencing court from the testimony of Israel's penalty phase mental state expert, Dr. Harry Krop. See, Nelson, supra, at 244. Moreover, the sentencing court found and weighed both statutory mental state mitigators. (R2441). In large part, the non-statutory mitigators are subsumed within the statutory mental

mitigators that were found. The sentencing court stated:

The defendant has presented unrebutted testimony from Dr. Harry Krop, a licensed psychologist in support of two statutory mitigating factors: 1) that the defendant was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time the crime occurred, and, 2) that capacity of the defendant to appreciate criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. Clearly, there was some evidence presented as to these The Court considers them established. two factors. However, in determining the amount of weight either should receive in mitigation, the Court considers Dr. Krop's remarks that he felt Mr. Israel to uncooperative and as a whole, suffered no significant injury or disease that would explain his results on neuropsychological testing. Further, Dr. Krop felt Mr. Israel was just born this way, and that he would likely stay this way. In weighing these mitigating factors the Court assigns some credence to each.

(R2441).

The sentencing court properly weighed the mitigation evidence, and there is no basis for relief.

Finally, even assuming that there was some error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because, even if the weak, non-specific non-statutory mitigation identified in Israel's brief should have been considered by the sentencing court, it is insufficient to outweigh the extensive aggravation present in this case. At most, any error was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

IV. THE DENIAL OF THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL

On pages 42-46 of his brief, Israel argues that he is entitled to relief based upon the trial court's denial of his motion for

mistrial after, according the Israel, witness McComb testified that Israel had "more than one murder charge" against him. This claim is not a basis for relief because it has no basis in fact.

The testimony at issue, in its entirety, is as follows 19:

- Q: Okay. Now, did that result in you having some conversation with this other fellow in the cell, Mr. Israel?
- A: That's how it started. That's how he and I's conversation started. He seen that I knew legal procedures and stuff like that. So he said, hey, man, can you help me win my case? I said sure, go for it, what's it about?

So he starts to tell me about his case and it was a first-degree murder case. And he told me he had more than one; at the time I can tell you in great detail about two cases --

(R3672). At that point, defense counsel moved for a mistrial on the ground that the testimony set out above could be interpreted by the jury to mean that Israel had more than one murder charge. (R3673). However, the trial court, which was in the position to observe the testimony and its effect upon the jury, denied that motion, implicitly finding that McComb had not implied that Israel had another murder charge pending against him, but rather had merely stated the obvious — that Israel had been convicted of some other charge and was in prison because of that conviction. (R3674-3676). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial, and its ruling should not be disturbed. See e.g.,

¹⁹This conversation took place in the disciplinary confinement area at New River East Correctional Institution. (R3667; 3669).

State v. Spaziano, 692 So.2d 174 (Fla. 1997). 20

Further, the jury could certainly infer that Israel had previously been convicted of a felony, given that he was an inmate of the Florida prison system. That is merely a fact, which, in any case, was subsequently placed before the jury in the penalty phase, when they were informed of Israel's prior violent felony convictions. (R3875). Such evidence was properly admitted, and is not a basis for relief. Likewise, the fact that a former inmate testified against Israel, and related inculpatory statements made during incarceration, is not error — the jury was well aware of the circumstances of the statement, and, in fact, had been so informed, without objection, during the State's opening argument. (R3361-64). The statement at issue here cannot be reasonably interpreted in the manner suggested by Israel, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a mistrial²¹.

To the extent that Israel complains that no "curative instruction" was given, the record is somewhat unclear as to whether the trial court decided not to give such an instruction, or

²⁰Just as this Court is reluctant to undertake an evaluation of the credibility of a witness, is should not second-guess the trial court's ruling in this instance, which is wholly based upon that court's evaluation of the events that transpired in the courtroom. There is no abuse of discretion.

²¹No motion *in limine* was made to preclude reference to the fact that Israel was in prison when he made the statement to McComb. Such a motion would have been properly denied, in any event.

whether Israel decided not to insist that one be given. (R3677). Regardless, because McComb had not said anything improper, there was no need for a curative instruction. If Israel believed that the answer needed further explanation, he had the opportunity to do just that on cross-examination, but did not. He should not be heard to complain.²²

Finally, even if it is somehow possible to interpret McComb's testimony as Israel has done, that testimony was, at most, a vague, unclear comment that did not become a feature of the trial and which, in light of the overwhelming evidence against Israel, amounts, at most, to harmless error which had no effect on the outcome of the trial. See, State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and did not affect Israel's right to a fair trial.

V. DEATH IS THE PROPER SENTENCE

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